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DECISION OF THE NATIONAL OFFICER ELECTION COMMITTEE  

ON POST-ELECTION PROTESTS OF 2021 SAG-AFTRA PRESIDENTIAL ELECTION 

 

On August 3, 2021, Integrity Voting Services (“IVS”), the independent agency 

SAG-AFTRA retained to conduct the 2021 National and Local elections, mailed ballots for the 

President, Secretary-Treasurer, and the New York and Los Angeles Local Boards, Local 

Officers, National Board members, and Convention delegates to SAG-AFTRA members.  IVS 

counted the ballots on September 2, 2021. 

Seven members filed post-election protests concerning the election of Unite for 

Strength (“UFS”) presidential candidate Fran Drescher (“Drescher”).  Chuck Slavin (“Slavin”) 

filed a post-election protest on September 2, 2021, provided additional evidence on September 8, 

2021, and submitted additional allegations on September 9, 2021.  Matthew Modine (“Modine”) 

and Pete Antico (“Antico”) filed a post-election protest on September 9, 2021 and additional 

allegations on September 11, 2021.1  David Clennon (“Clennon”) filed a post-election protest on 

September 10, 2021 and provided additional evidence on September 15, 2021.  Antico filed 

additional post-election protests on September 11 and September 12 and an additional post-

election protest with Modine on September 16, 2021.  Antico also filed an amendment to his 

September 12 protest on September 16, 2021.  Samantha Hartson (“Hartson”) filed a post-

election protest on September 12, 2021.  Adam Nelson (“Nelson”) filed a post-election protest on 

September 16, 2021.2  Kevin Cannon (“Cannon”) also filed a post-election protest on September 

16, 2021.  Copies of these protests are attached as Exhibit A.3 

After each protest was filed, SAG-AFTRA sent each protesting party an email 

asking them to submit any additional evidence they wanted the Election Committee to consider 

in connection with their protest.  Additionally, SAG-AFTRA advised Drescher and UFS of their 

right to submit evidence to the National Officer Election Committee (the “Election Committee”) 

in response to the protests.  Copies of the responses received from Drescher and UFS are 

attached as Exhibit B. 

                                                 
1 Although Joely Fisher’s name was included in the protest filed by Modine and Antico and 

she was copied on emails dated September 9 and September 11, 2021 concerning the protest, she 

advised SAG-AFTRA on September 20, 2021 that she had not authorized her name to be 

included in the protest.  Thus, she will not be treated as a protesting party here. 

2 Robert Allen, a partner at GlaserWeil, submitted the protest in a letter on behalf of Nelson.  

Since Allen’s letter on September 16, 2021 clearly identifies Nelson, a SAG-AFTRA member, as 

the protestor, we have accepted and reviewed this protest. 

3 Where protests involved the alleged promotion of candidates running in both the Local and 

National elections, the National Officer Election Committee assumed jurisdiction in accordance 

with Article VI.B(1)(d) of the Election Policy. 
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SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS IN THE PROTESTS 

Because many of the protests contain identical or overlapping allegations, we will 

describe the issues raised by the various protesters, and then separately analyze each substantive 

issue.  Slavin, Clennon, Modine, Antico, Hartson, Nelson, and Cannon raise a number of issues 

concerning the alleged use of employer resources to promote the candidacies of Drescher, 

Anthony Rapp (“Rapp”), and other members of the UFS slate.  First, Slavin, Clennon, Hartson, 

Cannon, and Nelson allege that SAG-AFTRA member Tom Hanks (“Hanks”) is an employer 

and improperly endorsed Drescher, Rapp, and UFS.  Slavin and Nelson further allege that 

Hanks’s endorsement included a photograph owned by Columbia Pictures Industries Inc., an 

employer.  Second, Modine, Antico, and Cannon allege that employer Warner Bros. improperly 

promoted Drescher, Rapp, and UFS in a broadcast of its show, EXTRA.  Modine and Antico 

additionally allege that employers Windy City and NY 9 promoted Drescher, Rapp, and UFS on 

air.  Third, Antico and Nelson allege that Rick Dorfman, Drescher’s manager, is an employer 

and that he improperly promoted Drescher, Rapp, and UFS in an email to certain SAG-AFTRA 

members.  Fourth, Antico alleges that casting director Jennifer Euston is an employer who 

improperly promoted Drescher, Rapp, UFS, and Los Angeles Board candidate Allison Pill 

(“Pill”). 

The protests of Antico, Modine, and Nelson also include allegations concerning 

the use of SAG-AFTRA resources to promote the candidacies of Drescher, Rapp, and members 

of the UFS slate.  First, Antico, Modine, and Nelson allege that SAG-AFTRA improperly 

promoted SAG-AFTRA Executive Vice President Rebecca Damon (“Damon”) in an article and 

Twitter post concerning her recent receipt of an award.  Second, Nelson alleges that SAG-

AFTRA discriminated in its dissemination of candidate campaign emails. 

Nelson, Modine, and Antico also all included allegations of Election Committee 

bias, asserting that the Election Committee is composed entirely of UFS appointees.  Nelson 

further takes issue with the timing of the Election Committee’s decision.  Finally, Nelson alleges 

that Drescher knowingly defamed Modine in public statements. 

We have carefully reviewed and considered the protests, the parties’ submissions, 

the Election Policy, the SAG-AFTRA Constitution, and applicable federal election law.  For the 

reasons discussed below, we conclude that there was no violation of the Election Policy, the 

SAG-AFTRA Constitution, or federal election law.  Accordingly, we dismiss all post-election 

protests. 

DISCUSSION  

I. Tom Hanks’s Endorsement of Drescher, Rapp, and UFS 

A. The Applicable Legal Standard 

Section IV.B of the Election Policy and Section 401(g) of the LMRDA, 29 U.S.C. 

§ 481(g) (“Section 401(g)”), prohibit the use of employer funds to promote or denigrate the 

candidacy of any person.  Department of Labor (the “Department”) regulations provide that 

employer resources include both direct and indirect expenditures.  29 C.F.R. § 452.78. 
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Although both the Election Policy and Section 401(g) prohibit the use of 

employer funds to support a candidate for union election, both the Department and the courts 

have made clear that members of SAG-AFTRA who might also be considered to be employers 

under Section 401(g) may endorse the candidates of their choice as long as they do so in their 

individual capacities without the use of employer resources.4 

 

Following the line of cases in footnote 3, in a post-election investigation of the 

2019 SAG-AFTRA election, the Department found no Section 401(g) violation where an 

individual who could be considered an employer posted an endorsement on a website that was 

not union- or employer-sponsored.5  In that case, a casting director posted an endorsement 

(“Casting Director Boston for over 25 years.  If you don’t think [candidate] knows what’s best 

for local actors, I give up”) on the “Unofficial SAG-AFTRA Boston Member Forum.”  In 

dismissing the complaint, the Department noted that the website was created by a former 

member for local members and was not sponsored by either the union or an employer.  Similarly, 

following a post-election investigation of the 2017 SAG-AFTRA election, the Department found 

no Section 401(g) violation where an individual who could be considered an employer posted an 

endorsement on his personal webpage during his breaktime, without the use of any employer or 

union resources.6 

 

In the same vein, the Department has consistently found no Section 401(g) 

violation where union officers or officials who were management-level representatives endorsed 

candidates without the use of union resources.  For example, the Department found no violation 

where a local union president issued an endorsement of two candidates without using any union 

resources to prepare the endorsement.  The Department noted that “[u]nion officials and 

employees are free to campaign for the candidates of their choice so long as the campaigning 

                                                 
4 See, e.g., Teamsters, Local 580, 52-8568, 81-(LM)-244 (1981) (finding no violation where 

a union-member who owned a bar that employed eight persons campaigned for a slate of 

candidates by selling raffle tickets, but used no employer moneys or resources to do so); 

McLaughlin v. Am. Fed’n of Musicians of U.S. & Canada, 700 F. Supp. 726, 734 (S.D.N.Y. 

1988) (“Section 401(g) does not restrict the rights of union members and officials to use their 

private resources to campaign themselves or to support another candidate in any way they see 

fit.”); United States v. Int’l Bhd. of Teamsters, 896 F. Supp. 1349 (S.D.N.Y. 1995) (recognizing 

cases standing for the proposition that “when an employer-member who contributes to a 

campaign for union office acts in his individual capacity as a union member and does not use his 

business's resources, assets, or name, the contribution will be treated as coming from a union 

member, rather than from an “employer” as defined in the LMRDA.”); Air Line Pilots 

Association (ALPA), Local Election Council 54 (LEC 54) (Aug. 4, 2017) (“[T]he LMRDA 

allows union officers to support the candidates of their choice so long as no union funds are used 

in doing so”); United Healthcare Workers-West (UHW), SEIU (April 17, 2015) (“[S]ection 

401(e) of the LMRDA affords members [who might also be employers] the right to support the 

candidates of their choice.”). 

 
5 SAG-AFTRA New England Local (March 25, 2020). 

6 SAG-AFTRA New England Local (March 9, 2018). 
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does not involve the use of union resources.”7  In another case, the Department found no 

violation where a group of union executive board members, clearly management-level 

representatives of the union, signed a letter endorsing a particular candidate.8  The letter had 

been signed during breaks in the executive board meeting and the candidate, not the executive 

board members, had paid for the production and mailing of the letter. 

 

District courts have also recognized that no violation of Section 401(g) occurs 

where an individual who may be considered an employer endorses a candidate without the use of 

employer resources.  For example, in Martin v. International Organization of Masters, Mates 

and Pilots, 786 F. Supp. 1230, 1237-38 (D.Md. 1992), an operations manager of a company, 

who was also a union member, wrote an endorsement for two candidates for office.  One of the 

candidates included the endorsement as part of campaign literature he distributed to union 

members.  Noting that the operations manager could be viewed as an employer in certain 

circumstances, the Department concluded that because he was not acting in his role as an 

employer, but rather as a union member, when he provided the endorsement, no violation of 

Section 401(g) had occurred.  Central to its decision was the fact that there was no evidence that 

employer time, equipment, or facilities were used in connection with the endorsement.  In 

upholding the Department’s decision, the district court found that the Department had rationally 

determined that the operations manager was acting as a union member, not an employer, when 

he issued the endorsement.  The district court rejected the losing candidates’ assertion that the 

operation manager’s statement in the endorsement that he was “in management now” was 

conclusive evidence that he was acting as an employer.  Instead, the district court found that the 

Department had appropriately considered the totality of the circumstances, including the lack of 

evidence of the use of employer resources, in finding that the endorsement did not constitute 

employer assistance in violation of Section 401(g). 

 

Likewise, in Ono v. Dias, No. CIVIL 14-00327 LEK-KSC, 2014 WL 4955696, at 

*6 (D. Haw. Sep. 30, 2014), the district court affirmed that Section 401(g) prohibits only the 

provision of “money or things of value” and “not simply ‘employer support’.”  In this case, the 

                                                 
7 United Emergency Medical Professionals of Arizona (UEMPA), Local I-60 of the 

International Association of Fire Fighters (IAFF), AFL-CIO (June 10, 2021); see also New York 

Public Employees Federation (February 23, 2017) (no violation where union leader posted 

statement supporting candidate using personal computer on campaign’s Facebook page); 

National Treasury Employees Union (NTEU) Chapter 137 (September 8, 2014) (no violation 

where union officer posted campaign email while not on union time using his own computer and 

personal Facebook page); International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (IBEW), Local 1269 

(May 12, 2015) (no violation where former CWA International vice president endorsed 

candidate for office and no violation where union business manager endorsed candidate in a 

video filmed without the use of union or employer resources because “officers are free to support 

the candidates of their choice, but may not use union resources in doing so”); International 

Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (IBEW), Local 2321 (June 23, 2016) (no violation where the 

local’s chief steward sent an email from her personal email address and computer to union 

members endorsing certain candidates for office). 

8 Amalgamated Transit Union (February 11, 2013). 
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plaintiffs had alleged that a business owner, who was also a former member and officer of the 

union, mailed out campaign fliers, distributed campaign literature, and spoke to union members 

individually and in groups in support of a particular union candidate.  The court stated that “the 

only one of these acts conceivably prohibited by [Section 401(g)] is the mailing out of campaign 

fliers, since it implicates expenditures, i.e. funds for stamps, photocopies, and/or mailing 

materials like paper and envelopes.”9  In other words, it concluded that an employer’s 

endorsement of a candidate without more does not constitute a violation.10 

 

B. Tom Hanks’s Endorsement 

Slavin, Clennon, Hartson, Cannon, and Nelson allege that Hanks improperly 

endorsed Drescher, Rapp, and UFS.  In support of their post-election protests, Slavin, Clennon, 

Hartson, Cannon and Nelson provided various pictures of UFS campaign materials and 

screenshots of the UFS website.  We will assume without deciding, for purposes of this decision 

only, that Hanks is an employer within the meaning of the Election Policy and Section 401(g). 

 

In response to the protests, UFS submitted a statement and signed declaration 

from Tom Hanks.  In his signed declaration, Hanks affirmed that he is a member of SAG-

AFTRA, that he gave his endorsement of Drescher, Rapp, and UFS in his capacity as a SAG-

AFTRA member, and that no employer resources were used in connection with the endorsement.  

He also stated that the photograph that was used is a photograph that he owns and that he has the 

absolute right to use the photograph as he deems appropriate.  Finally, he affirmed that although 

he owns a production company, none of the company’s staff, resources, equipment, or other 

things of value were used in connection with his endorsement or to support the UFS slate. 

 

All of the photographs of the UFS campaign materials and the screenshots of the 

UFS website provided by the protestors show the same image of Hanks and the following quote 

attributed to Hanks: 

 

The future of SAG-AFTRA is streaming.  Members deserve 

stronger contracts, more residuals, better protections, and ending 

unfair exclusivity.  I’m supporting Fran, Anthony and their entire 

team.  Your vote matters! 

                                                 
9 Id. at *7. 

10 See also Hodgson v. Liquor Salesmen's Union, Local No. 2, 334 F. Supp. 1369, 1379 

(S.D.N.Y.), aff'd 444 F.2d 1344 (2d Cir. 1971) (no violation where employer expressed support 

for incumbent slate during sales meeting where no evidence of employer contribution of funds to 

promote incumbent candidacies and occurrence of statement at sales meeting merely incidental 

to proper employer expenditures); Puma v. Sheet Metal Workers' Int’l Assoc’n, Local Union No. 

137, 862 F. Supp. 1077, 1081 (S.D.N.Y.1994) (finding that “owner-members” are still protected 

by LMRDA Section 101(a)(1), absent explicit language in the collective bargaining agreement to 

the contrary). 
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Neither the campaign materials nor the endorsement on the UFS website refers to Playtone or 

Hanks’s alleged status as an owner of Playtone.  Additionally, there is no evidence that any of 

the campaign materials were distributed using Playtone or any other employer’s funds.  In fact, 

in his declaration, Hanks affirms that he provided his endorsement and picture to UFS in his 

capacity as a SAG-AFTRA member, and that no funds from his company Playtone were used.  

No contrary evidence was provided to us. 

Slavin and Nelson, however, contend that the photograph of Hanks on the 

campaign materials and website is owned by Columbia Pictures Industries, Inc. and therefore 

constitutes the use of employer resources in violation of Section 401(g).  In support of this 

contention, Slavin provided a screenshot of a 2017 article with the same picture of Hanks and the 

subtitle, “2013 Columbia Pictures Industries, Inc. / All Rights reserved / Austin Hargrave.”  

Nelson provided screenshots of two websites with the same picture of Hanks and a subtitle 

referring to “Columbia Pictures Industries, Inc.”  In response, Hanks provided a signed 

declaration attesting to the fact that he owns the photograph and has the absolute right to use the 

photograph as he deems appropriate.  Because the signed declaration from Hanks establishes that 

he owned the photograph and had the unfettered right to use it as he saw fit, and because the 

protestors did not provide any evidence controverting this fact, we find that the photograph does 

not constitute an employer resource.  Accordingly, we conclude that its use did not constitute a 

violation of Section 401(g) or the Election Policy.11  

In sum, as a SAG-AFTRA member, just like a number of other high-profile SAG-

AFTRA members who might be considered employers, some of whom endorsed one slate and 

some of whom endorsed the other, Hanks had the right to support the candidate of his choosing 

in SAG-AFTRA’s election as long as he did so in his individual capacity and without the use of 

employer resources.  The fact that Hanks may serve in some circumstances as an employer does 

not limit this right.  Based on the evidence provided, we find no evidence that employer 

resources were used in connection with Hanks’s endorsement of Drescher, Rapp, and the UFS 

slate.  Accordingly, we find that no violation of Section 401(g) and the Election Policy occurred. 

II. EXTRA, NY-9, and Windy City Broadcasts 

A. The Applicable Legal Standard 

In our recent decision concerning a pre-election protest regarding a Membership 

First’s candidate’s interview with Membership First Secretary-Treasurer candidate Joely Fisher 

(“Fisher”) on KTLA, a Los Angeles television program, we outlined the factors used by the 

                                                 
11 Although Slavin’s protest also concerns candidates on the Union Strong New England 

slate, we note that the screenshot of the postcard that Slavin received in support of members of 

the Union Strong New England slate does not include any reference to Hanks or any photograph 

of Hanks.  The screenshot of the Union Strong New England website similarly does not include 

any reference to or photograph of Hanks.  In response to Slavin’s protest, members of the Union 

Strong New England slate noted that none of their campaign materials or website contained an 

endorsement from, or picture of, Mr. Hanks and that “[a]s much as it would be nice to have an 

endorsement from Mr. Hanks, we did not receive one.” 
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Department in determining whether a particular communication “went beyond the scope of 

legitimate coverage of newsworthy activities”12 and constituted a Section 401(g) violation.  As 

we noted previously, the Department, often in the context of union publications, looks at the 

tone, timing, and content of the communication.  For example, a federal district court found a 

Section 401(g) violation where a union-sponsored weather forecast program aired on local radio 

stations discussed the union’s health plan and the incumbent candidate while mentioning the 

upcoming election; it also found a violation where the union purchased newspaper ads attacking 

the incumbent’s rival.13  In so finding, the court noted that although “the newspaper 

advertisements and the sponsorship of the weather forecast could arguably have some useful 

purpose in extolling the accomplishments and publicizing the activities of the union . . . in 

considering the totality of the circumstances regarding the activities, there is reflected an 

intention to endorse and encourage the candidacy of certain individuals to the detriment of 

others.”14 (emphasis added). 

 

In contrast, the Department found no violation where a union distributed a notice 

of election in its newspaper because the “tone of the newspaper did not promote the incumbent 

officers and was not critical of any potential opposition candidates” and the “content of the 

newspaper did not encourage or endorse the reelection of the incumbent officers.”15  Similarly, 

the Department found no violation where a local union’s newsletter included coverage of recent 

newsworthy union activities, including contract negotiations, and neither attacked nor promoted 

any candidates.16  Likewise, in considering allegations of a Section 401(g) violation, the Second 

Circuit took no issue with an article in a Spanish-language daily newspaper reporting that a 

particular individual was considering challenging the incumbent in an upcoming election.  The 

Second Circuit focused only on whether the union had violated Section 401(g) by circulating a 

memorandum to union officials responding to the article.17 

 

The Department and the courts have consistently acknowledged that “objective 

news reporting is protected and encouraged under the LMRDA.”18  In enforcing Section 401(g), 

                                                 
12  McLaughlin v. Amer. Fed’n of Musicians of U.S. and Canada, 700 F. Supp. 726, 

732(S.D.N.Y. 1988). 

13  Brennan v. Sindicato Empleados De Equipo Pesado, Construcción y Ramas Anexas de 

Puerto Rico, 370 F. Supp. 872, 878 (D.P.R. 1974).  

 
14  Id. 

15 American Postal Workers Union, Local 7140- Northwest Illinois Area Local (NWIAL) 

(October 11, 2017). 

16 Transport Workers, Local 234 (September 22, 2017). 

17 Guzman v. Local 32B-32J, Serv. Emps. Int'l Union, 151 F.3d 86, 88 (2d Cir. 1998). 

18 McLaughlin v. Am. Fed'n of Musicians of U.S. & Canada, AFL-CIO, 700 F. Supp. 726, 

735 (S.D.N.Y. 1988); see also Yablonski v. United Mine Workers of Am., 305 F. Supp. 876, 877 

(D.D.C 1969) (noting that a union publication can present materials distributed by candidates as 
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the Department and the courts have cautioned against encroachment on the First Amendment’s 

protection of freedom of the press.19  As we noted in our recent pre-election decision concerning 

the KTLA interview by a Membership First candidate, the Election Policy and Section 401(g) do 

not preclude media outlets from broadcasting or distributing interviews by journalists who are 

unattached to any SAG-AFTRA slate of candidates for SAG-AFTRA office.  Indeed, given the 

newsworthiness of the SAG-AFTRA election, many media outlets have interviewed or reported 

about candidates from both the Membership First and UFS slates.20 

 

B. EXTRA Broadcast 

Modine, Antico, and Cannon allege that Warner Bros, an employer of SAG-

AFTRA members, permitted Drescher to promote her candidacy and the UFS slate on the 

television talk show, EXTRA.  They also allege that EXTRA included a voiceover noting 

Drescher’s supporters and displayed images of her supporters.  The protestors contend that 

candidate Matthew Modine (“Modine”) was not offered equal time on the show.  In support of 

this allegation, the protesters provided a link to a recording of the program. 

 

In the recording of the EXTRA broadcast, EXTRA correspondent Rachel Lindsey 

(“Lindsey”) introduces the segment by noting that Drescher is running for president of SAG-

                                                 

long as it does so on a nondiscriminatory basis without promoting a particular candidate and that 

“such reporting of the activities of the candidates, i.e. their views and news concerning them, is 

no more the promotion of the candidacy of any person than would be similar reporting by a 

newspaper of general circulation of the activities of candidates for public office”). 

19 See, e.g., Yablonski v. United Mine Workers of Am., 305 F. Supp. 868, 872 (D.D.C. 1969), 

supplemented by 305 F. Supp. 876 (D.D.C 1969) (rejecting proposed remedy that would require 

union to print certain materials supplied by the plaintiff recognizing that “[a]s desirable as this 

might be from a public interest and union viewpoint, such requirement would be a clear violation 

of the First Amendment insofar as it relates to the freedom of the press”). 

20 See e.g., David Robb, A-List Lineup Endorses Matthew Modine For SAG-AFTRA 

President: Whoopi Goldberg, Matt Dillon, Mia Farrow & More, DEADLINE (Aug. 6, 2021), 

https://deadline.com/2021/08/matthew-modine-sag-aftra-president-endorsements-whoopi-

goldberg-matt-dillon-more-1234810677/; David Robb, Tom Hanks Endorses Fran Drescher for 

President of SAG-AFTRA, DEADLINE (Aug. 5, 2021), https://deadline.com/2021/08/tom-hanks-

endorses-fran-drescher-for-president-of-sag-aftra-1234810275/; David Robb, Fran Drescher On 

Running For SAG-AFTRA President: “Everything That I Have Done In My Life Has Led Me To 

This One Defining Moment” – Q&A, DEADLINE (July 19, 2021), 

https://deadline.com/2021/07/fran-drescher-sag-aftra-president-campaign-hollywood-actors-

union-interview-1234795974/; David Robb, SAG-AFTRA Presidential Candidate Matthew 

Modine Says Union “Cannot Survive” Two More Years Of Current Leadership: Q&A, 

DEADLINE (July 30, 2021), https://deadline.com/2021/07/matthew-modine-q-and-a-sag-aftra-

presidential-candidate-1234806691/; Jeremy Fuster, SAG-AFTRA Presidential Candidate 

Matthew Modine Faults Guild’s ‘Foolish’ Handling of Health Plan, THE WRAP (July 29, 2021), 

https://www.thewrap.com/sag-aftra-matthew-modine-gabrielle-carteris-health-plan/. 
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AFTRA and that Drescher is about to reboot a version of her sitcom on Broadway.  Lindsey then 

asks Drescher to share the status of the reboot followed by a discussion of Drescher’s possible 

appearance on Dancing with the Stars.  Next, Lindsey again notes that Drescher is running for 

SAG-AFTRA president and states that Rapp is her running mate while a picture of Rapp is 

displayed.  Lindsey then lists some of Drescher’s high-profile supporters including Tom Hanks, 

Alec Baldwin, Rosario Dawson, and Deborah Messing while pictures of each SAG-AFTRA 

member are displayed.  After these images, Drescher states that she wants to make SAG-AFTRA 

a healthier union and that “poor health is the great equalizer.”  Lindsey notes that Drescher is 

running against Modine and Fisher while images of Modine and Fisher are displayed.  Drescher 

says that she and Modine “agree on a lot of things, how we resolve it may be different.”  

Drescher then notes her life experience and her belief that she will be able to “come up with very 

imaginative, innovative, and outside of the box solutions.” 

 

Applying the “time, tone, content” test to the EXTRA broadcast, we first look at 

the timing of the broadcast in question.  Lindsey’s interview with Drescher occurred on August 

9, 2021, during the critical election period––shortly after SAG-AFTRA mailed ballots to 

members on August 3, 2021, but before the return deadline of September 2, 2021. 

 

Next, we consider the tone and content of the interview.  Lindsey, the EXTRA 

correspondent who conducted the interview, is not a candidate for SAG-AFTRA office.  The 

protestors have provided no evidence that Lindsey has endorsed any candidates on the UFS slate 

or taken any other action that would indicate bias for a particular candidate.  Based on the 

evidence presented, we conclude that Lindsey is a neutral journalist.  During the interview, 

Lindsey asks Drescher about a number of different topics, including her upcoming Broadway 

reboot of The Nanny and her possible participation in a reality show.  As Drescher is a celebrity, 

well-known for her role in the television show, The Nanny, coverage of her recent work 

constitutes the kind of topic that EXTRA, an entertainment-oriented show, typically covers.  

References to the SAG-AFTRA election were only one minor part of a longer interview 

segment. 

 

During the portion of the segment concerning the SAG-AFTRA election, Lindsey 

indicates no preference for a particular candidate.  She notes that Drescher and Rapp are running 

against Modine and Fisher and displays pictures of all four candidates.  She also notes some of 

the high-profile individuals who support Drescher, celebrities of interest to EXTRA viewers.  

Lindsey makes no reference to UFS and at no point during the broadcast is the UFS logo or UFS 

website address displayed. 

 

We note that there are significant differences between the EXTRA interview and 

the KTLA interview that was the subject of a pre-election protest.  In the KTLA interview, in 

contrast to the EXTRA interview, the interviewer was himself a candidate for SAG-AFTRA 

office and a member of the same slate as Fisher, the interviewee.  The interviewee not only 

promoted the Membership First slate, but also denigrated candidates from the UFS slate.  During 

the interview, in addition to displaying pictures of candidates from the Membership First (but not 

the UFS) slate, KTLA also displayed on screen, throughout the interview, the Membership First 

website address and, at one point, the Membership First logo.  The interview focused solely on 

the SAG-AFTRA election with no mention of Fisher’s recent work.  At the conclusion of the 
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interview, the interviewer told viewers who were SAG-AFTRA members to look out for their 

election ballots in the mail.  Finally, although the interviewer stated that candidates from both 

slates were welcome to appear on his show, KTLA denied two subsequent requests that UFS 

candidates be allowed to be interviewed.  At the same time, after the interview discussed above, 

it allowed another Membership First candidate to be interviewed to promote their candidacy. 

 

Based on a review of the EXTRA recording submitted, in contrast to the KTLA 

interview, the EXTRA broadcast constituted a neutral news interview with Drescher.  It focused 

on Drescher’s professional career (e.g. The Nanny coming to Broadway and Drescher possibly 

appearing on Dancing With The Stars), rather than exclusively on the SAG-AFTRA election.  

Although Drescher discussed her candidacy (as well as issues involving her career) during the 

interview, she did not denigrate the opposing slate.  The interviewer did not promote Drescher’s 

candidacy or denigrate the candidacy of any other candidate.  Although Modine contends that he 

was not offered a chance to appear on EXTRA to discuss his candidacy, he provided no evidence 

that he requested such an opportunity.  There is, however, no requirement that a media outlet 

offer equal time to opposing candidates in an internal union election.  EXTRA has the editorial 

discretion to determine the content that it wishes to broadcast.  Although a violation occurs 

where an employer uses its resources to promote a particular candidate, neutral news coverage of 

one candidate, but not the other, is insufficient, on its own, to state a violation. 

 

Moreover, Membership First Secretary Treasurer candidate Joely Fisher, 

Modine’s running mate, appeared on EXTRA on August 13, 2021.21  During this interview, 

EXTRA correspondent Jenn Lahmers notes that Fisher is running in the SAG-AFTRA election 

with Modine and pictures of both candidates are displayed.  Fisher then discusses the 

Membership First platform and says, “We’re asking for your vote, SAG-AFTRA members.” 

 

 Based on the facts discussed above, we find no violation of the Election Policy or 

Section 401(g). 

 

C. Windy City  

Modine and Antico also allege that another employer, Windy City, allowed 

Drescher to appear on its show for the express purpose of promoting her candidacy and the UFS 

slate.  The protestors allege that Modine, Fisher, and other members of the Membership First 

slate were not offered equal time.  In support of these allegations, the protestors provided a 

recording of the Windy City broadcast.   

 

The approximately 42-second recording of the Windy City broadcast that the 

protesters provided begins at the end of an approximately nine-minute-long broadcast.  Viewed 

in its entirety, the broadcast was primarily focused on a variety of issues other than the election.  

In the short clip provided, Drescher suggests that viewers go to “cancersmancer.org” to learn 

how to bolster their immune systems and then says, “If you are in the SAG-AFTRA union out 

                                                 
21  See How SAG-AFTRA Secretary-Treasurer Candidate Joely Fisher Plans to Help the 

Union, EXTRA (Aug. 13, 2021), https://extratv.com/videos/how-sag-aftra-secretary-treasurer-

candidate-joely-fisher-plans-to-help-the-union.  
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there, vote for me, I’m running for National President.”  One of the two correspondents in the 

clip states, “You are one busy lady.”  Drescher then discusses her experience working in 

Washington, founding a non-profit, and working for the State Department.  Drescher says that 

she is “ready to bring the union into the moment.”  One of the correspondents then closes the 

segment by saying, “Be sure to check out The Nanny, streaming on HBO Max.” 

 

As with the EXTRA broadcast, the timing of the segment, on August 9, 2021, 

falls within the critical election period.  However, as with the EXTRA broadcast, we find that the 

tone and content of the segment, in sharp contrast to the KTLA broadcast, do not support a 

finding that Windy City promoted Drescher’s candidacy.  The protestors have provided no 

evidence indicating that the correspondents conducting the interview are candidates for SAG-

AFTRA office or have endorsed a particular candidate for SAG-AFTRA office.  Drescher, not 

either of the interviewers, mentions her candidacy during the interview, and she does not 

denigrate the opposing candidates or slate.  Although the protesters provided only a short clip of 

the interview, even that clip included coverage of topics other than the SAG-AFTRA election, 

including Drescher’s appearance on The Nanny and Drescher’s charitable organization, Cancer 

Schmancer.  At no point during the interview does Windy City display the UFS logo or the UFS 

web address, nor does the interviewer mention UFS or the election ballots.  In assessing the 

totality of the circumstances, we find no evidence that Windy City promoted Drescher or any 

other candidates during the interview.  Instead, we find that the segment constituted legitimate 

coverage of newsworthy activities.  We find no violation of the Election Policy or Section 

401(g). 

 

D. NY 9 

Modine and Antico also claim that NY 9, an employer, improperly promoted 

Drescher and UFS.  The protestors, however, have provided no recording, transcript of, or link to 

the NY 9 broadcast.  Nor do they provide any factual narrative to support their claim.  Pursuant 

to Article VI(B)(2)(c)(i) of the Election Policy, a “protest shall set forth with reasonable 

specificity the nature of the alleged violation, the facts underlying it and how it may have 

affected the outcome of the election.”  Additionally, after the protest was filed, SAG-AFTRA 

afforded the protesters the opportunity to submit any evidence they wanted the National Election 

Committee to consider.  They did not submit anything in response to this offer.  Absent any facts 

or evidence to support this claim, we find no violation. 

 

III. Rick Dorfman Email 

Nelson and Antico allege that Authentic Talent & Literary Management, an 

employer, promoted the candidacies of Drescher, Rapp, and other members of the UFS slate in 

violation of Article IV.B of the Election Policy and Section 401(g).  Specifically, Nelson and 

Antico allege that Drescher’s manager, Rick Dorfman (“Dorfman”), sent an email promoting 

Drescher and the rest of the UFS slate. 

 

In support of these allegations, Nelson provided the text of what appears to be a 

message signed by Drescher regarding her campaign.  The copied message does not include a 

“to” or “from” field or any sort of recipient list.  Antico provided a copy of the same message, 

similarly without a “to” or “from” field.  Antico also provided a link to the staff page for 
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Authentic Talent & Literary Management and a quote he attributes to Dorfman, stating “I am not 

familiar with the specifics of what’s going on with SAG-AFTRA and it is not my place to 

endorse a candidate.  I was merely doing a favor for a client who asked for help spreading the 

word about her candidacy.”  The source of this quote is not provided. 

 

In response to the protest, UFS submitted a declaration from Dorfman stating that 

he is an employee of the company he works for, that he does not employ anyone, including any 

administrative staff or assistants, and that he does not file W-2 forms for anyone or maintain 

workers compensation insurance.  He also stated that he sent the email in his personal capacity at 

5:17 a.m., on non-work time, and that the email he used is the only email address he has for both 

personal and work matters. 

 

Based on the submissions provided, we find that there is insufficient evidence to 

establish that Rick Dorfman is an employer within the meaning of Section 401(g) or the Election 

Policy.  As was the case in the Eleven Films protest, the protesters here submitted no evidence 

establishing that Dorfman is an employer, and the declaration submitted by Dorfman states 

unequivocally that he is not.  Pursuant to Article VI(B)(2)(c)(i) of the Election Policy, a “protest 

shall set forth with reasonable specificity the nature of the alleged violation, the facts underlying 

it and how it may have affected the outcome of the election.”  Absent any facts or evidence to 

support this claim, and in light of the declaration submitted, we find no violation of the Election 

Policy or 401(g). 

 

Even if there were a violation (and we have found that no violation occurred), we 

also note that Dorfman sent a letter within hours of the first email encouraging the recipients of 

his first email to “vote for whomever you think will support the issues that you are most 

passionate about.”  The following day, he sent an additional email to the recipients which 

included the language: “Please do not take any action or make any contributions in response to 

my email.  If you forwarded this email to anyone, or asked anyone to take action as a result, 

please advise them to disregard the request as well.”  The Department and the courts have 

consistently recognized that curative action such as this negates a finding of a Section 401(g) 

violation.22  Thus, we find that Dorfman took appropriate precautionary steps to cure a possible 

violation which, as stated, we find did not occur. 

 

IV. Jennifer Euston Post 

By way of background, we note that on August 14, 2021, Ron Ostrow (“Ostrow”) 

filed a pre-election protest concerning the Jennifer Euston post.  Ostrow alleged that Jennifer 

                                                 
22 See e.g., Communications Workers of America Local 13000 (Oct 8, 2015) (finding no 

outcome-determinative violation where union promptly removed a candidate’s campaign 

materials from a union bulletin board upon discovery only a few days after being posted); see 

also Guzman v. Local 32B-32J, Serv. Employees Int’l Union, AFL-CIO, 151 F.3d 86 (2d Cir. 

1998); International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (IBEW), Local 611 (Feb. 13, 2018); 

International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (IBEW) Local 1269 (May 12, 2015); United 

Food and Commercial Workers (UFCW) (May 28, 2014); American Federation of Government 

Employees (AFGE) Council 2065 (July 29, 2013). 
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Euston (“Euston”), a casting director, promoted a campaign video of UFS candidate Alison Pill 

(“Pill”) on her Instagram page in violation of Section IV.B of the Election Policy and Section 

401(g), which prohibit the use of employer funds to promote or denigrate the candidacy of any 

person. 

 

In support of his pre-election protest, Ostrow provided screenshots of Euston’s 

Instagram page where the campaign video was posted and a recording of the video.  In the video, 

Pill discusses her candidacy for the Los Angeles Local Board and her support for other UFS 

candidates, including Drescher and Rapp.23 

 

On August 18, 2021, in accordance with Article VI.B(1)(c) of the Election Policy, 

we offered Pill and UFS the opportunity to submit evidence and their position in response to the 

protest.  On August 20, 2021, UFS submitted a statement and documents in response to the 

protest.  UFS provided a signed declaration from Euston, discussed below, stating that she was 

not an employer.  UFS also stated that Pill did not request that Euston post on her behalf and 

that, as soon as the post came to UFS’s attention, UFS notified Euston and Euston immediately 

removed the post.  UFS pointed out that Euston posted a corrective statement within 

approximately five hours of the original post. 

 

On August 25, 2021, we issued a decision dismissing the pre-election protest.  In 

her declaration, Euston stated that she works as an independent casting professional and does 

not, and has not, employed anyone.  She also noted that she does not file any W-2 forms or 

maintain workers compensation insurance, and she is not party to any employment agreements 

with anyone.  The protester presented no evidence controverting these facts.  Accordingly, we 

found that there was insufficient evidence to establish that Euston was an employer as defined 

under the LMRDA.  We therefore found no violation of the Election Policy or applicable federal 

law arising from Euston’s Instagram post. 

 

On September 12, 2021, Antico filed a post-election protest.  Similar to Ostrow, 

Antico contends that Euston promoted the candidacy of Pill by posting in support of Pill on her 

Instagram page.  In support of his protest, Antico included a screenshot of Euston’s Instagram 

page which shows a screengrab of the same video that Ostrow included in his pre-election 

protest.  Antico also included a screenshot of a subsequent post by Euston on her Instagram page 

stating that she unknowingly posted material related to the SAG-AFTRA election and asking her 

followers to disregard the post.  Although Antico asserts that Euston is an employer and 

“employs assistants, associates, camera operators, [and] interns,” Antico provided no evidence in 

his initial submission concerning Euston’s status as an employer.  On September 16, 2021, 

Antico provided a link to a Backstage webpage for “Jennifer Euston Casting.”  Under 

“Personnel,” Euston is listed as “Casting Director,” S.J. Allocco is listed as “Casting Associate,” 

and Ashley Diane Long is listed as “Casting Assistant.” 

 

                                                 
23 Because this protest involved the alleged promotion of candidates running in both the 

Local and National elections, the National Officer Election Committee assumed jurisdiction in 

accordance with Article VI.B(1)(d) of the Election Policy. 
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After reviewing the materials submitted by Antico, we conclude that Antico’s 

protest raises identical factual allegations to those contained in the pre-election protest filed by 

Ostrow.  The additional evidence Antico provided concerning Euston’s status as an employer is 

not sufficient for us to alter our original decision concerning the Euston post.  The Backstage 

webpage is undated and provides no information as to whether the individuals listed as “Casting 

Associate” and “Casting Assistant” work for Euston as W-2 employees or whether they work as 

independent contractors.  For this reason, we incorporate our August 25, 2021 decision and the 

reasoning therein.  We find that there is insufficient evidence to establish that Euston is an 

employer for purposes of the LMRDA.  Accordingly, we find that no violation of the Election 

Policy or Section 401(g) has occurred.24 

 

V. Rebecca Damon Post 

Antico, Modine, and Nelson allege that SAG-AFTRA improperly promoted SAG-

AFTRA Executive Vice President Rebecca Damon in a September 9, 2021 tweet and article 

concerning her receipt of the 2021 New York City Labor Power 100 award.  We find that the 

award at issue was sufficiently prestigious and newsworthy, particularly in New York, to merit 

coverage by SAG-AFTRA.  In any event, Damon was not a candidate for office in the National 

or Local Elections held on September 2, 2021.  As no candidate was promoted, we find no 

violation.  

 

VI. Campaign Email Distribution 

Nelson alleges that he and “many other union members” never received certain 

emails sent by Membership First candidates including Modine and Fisher.  Nelson alleges that 

these emails were supposed to be sent to the nationwide union membership.  Nelson however 

provides no specific facts or evidence to support this assertion.  Pursuant to Article 

VI(B)(2)(c)(i) of the Election Policy, a “protest shall set forth with reasonable specificity the 

nature of the alleged violation, the facts underlying it and how it may have affected the outcome 

of the election.”  Absent any facts or evidence to support this claim, we find no violation.   

 

We further note that after receiving complaints from several members who said 

they had not received a particular campaign communication from Modine, SAG-AFTRA asked 

the independent email vendor to investigate the claim.  After the investigation, the vendor 

advised SAG-AFTRA that there were no irregularities in the distribution of candidate email. 

With respect to Modine’s campaign mailing, Modine requested that his mailing be sent to a list 

that specifically excluded Los Angeles Local members, which is why several Los Angeles 

members did not receive his campaign email. 

 

                                                 
24  As with the Dorfman email, we also note that Euston removed the post within hours of 

posting and posted a statement retracting the original post.  The Department and the courts have 

consistently recognized that curative action such as this negates a finding of a Section 401(g) 

violation.  Thus, we find that Euston took appropriate precautionary steps to cure a possible 

violation which, as stated, we find did not occur. 
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VII. Alleged Election Committee Bias and Timing of Decision Issuance  

Nelson, Modine, and Antico allege that the Election Committee is biased because 

it is “populated solely with Unite for Strength Party members loyal to former SAG-AFTRA 

President Gabrielle Carteris.”  Nelson requests the appointment of a “truly independent Election 

Committee.” 

 The Election Committee was appointed pursuant to the procedures in Article 

VI(G)(2)(g) of the SAG-AFTRA Constitution, which provides, in relevant part:  

i. The National Board shall appoint a National Officer Election 

Committee to oversee the conduct of all National Officer elections 

and to hear and determine election protests in accordance with the 

procedures and polices established by the National Board.  

ii. The Election Committee shall be made up of at least three (3) 

members in good standing, who may not be candidates for 

National Officer, National Board or Local Board positions.  

The members of this Election Committee were, accordingly, appointed by the National Board, 

and not, as alleged, by any political party.  The National Board approved the appointments in a 

more than two-thirds (2/3) super-majority vote.  We find no violation. 

Modine and Antico also allege that the Election Committee showed bias when it 

decided a pre-election protest filed by members of the UFS slate but deferred a similar protest 

filed by Membership First until after the election.  The UFS pre-election protest concerning the 

KTLA interview was filed on August 10, 2021, just a week after the mailing of ballots and more 

than three weeks before the ballot count on September 2, 2021.  After reviewing the protest and 

supporting documents, the Election Committee determined that a violation of the Election Policy 

and Section 401(g) had occurred, but that adequate time existed to potentially remedy the 

violation.  The Election Committee therefore issued a decision detailing the violation and 

strongly encouraging KTLA, the employer involved, to take immediate action to remedy the 

violation. 

 

On August 25, 2021, given the approaching ballot count on September 2, 2021, 

the Election Committee passed a motion providing that any additional pre-election protests that 

did not require remedial action would be considered, if filed, as post-election protests.  The 

Membership First protest concerning Drescher’s EXTRA interview was first filed as a pre-

election protest on August 30, 2021, just three days prior to the ballot count.  The Election 

Committee determined that even if a violation were found, a remedy would not be possible in the 

time remaining prior to the ballot count.  In accordance with its August 25, 2021 motion, the 

Election Committee therefore notified the protesters of its decision to defer the protest until after 

the election.25  Any difference in treatment resulted solely from the difference in when the two 

                                                 
25 Without citing any evidence, Modine and Antico also allege that members of the Election 

Committee shared a copy of the KTLA pre-election protest decision with the Los Angeles 

Times.  We deny this allegation and state unequivocally that this did not occur.  Additionally, the 
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pre-election protests were filed and whether a curative remedy would have been possible if a 

violation was found.  Based on the undisputed facts, we find no violation. 

 

Nelson next requests that the Election Committee issue decisions prior to the date 

of the Convention in order to avoid costs to SAG-AFTRA to rerun the Convention should the 

election be set aside.  Nelson does not allege any violation of the Election Policy or of applicable 

federal law. 

Article IV(g)(2)(h)(iii) of the SAG-AFTRA Constitution and Article (VI)(B)(1)(e) 

of the Election Policy require the Election Committee to render its written decision on all 

election protests “as promptly as possible, but in no event more than forty-five (45) days 

following the date of the election.”  As our decision is in accord with this provision, we find no 

violation.  

VIII. Alleged Defamation of Modine by Drescher 

Nelson alleges that on August 26, 2021, Drescher defamed Modine in an email 

sent to union members when she alleged that Modine had violated union election rules and 

federal labor law by receiving employer contributions and that Modine and Membership First 

had violated labor law during the 2019 SAG-AFTRA election.  Nelson alleges that Drescher, in 

making these statements, knowingly made false allegations against Modine in violation of 

federal law. 

Nelson also notes that Drescher included a link in her email to an August 23, 2021 

article in the Los Angeles Times entitled “SAG-AFTRA election board finds KTLA, Modine-led 

group broke rules.”26  This article concerned the August 4, 2021 interview of SAG-AFTRA 

Secretary-Treasurer candidate Joely Fisher conducted by SAG-AFTRA Los Angeles Board 

candidate Sam Rubin on the L.A.-based TV network, KTLA.  The article discussed our pre-

election protest decision finding that the interview violated the Election Policy and Section 

401(g). 

The Department’s regulations make clear that a union may not “censor the 

statements of the candidates in any way, even though the statement may include derogatory 

remarks about other candidates.”  29 C.F.R. § 452.70.  We thus find that Nelson’s allegations do 

not state a violation of the Election Policy or applicable federal law. 

                                                 

protestors include allegations concerning bias in the 2019 election.  The time for submitting 

protests concerning the 2019 election has long elapsed.  Accordingly, we find the protesters’ 

allegations regarding the 2019 election untimely. 

26 Anousha Sakoui, SAG-AFTRA Election Board Finds KTLA, Modine-Led Group Broke 

Rules, L.A. TIMES (Aug. 23, 2021), https://www.latimes.com/entertainment-

arts/business/story/2021-08-23/sag-aftra-election-board-finds-ktla-modine-led-membership-first-

group-broke-rules. 
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, we dismiss all the post-election protests. 

 

NATIONAL OFFICER ELECTION COMMITTEE  

Dated: October 7, 2021  

Carl Bradley Anderson, Chair 

Steve Bayorgeon 

Marcy Goldman 

Jim Murtaugh 

Sally Weldon 

Deadline




